



STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION

450 N STREET, SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA
PO BOX 942879, SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA 94279-0121
1-916-323-1094 • FAX 1-916-324-2586
www.boe.ca.gov

TED GAINES
First District, Sacramento

MALIA M. COHEN
Second District, San Francisco

ANTONIO VAZQUEZ, CHAIRMAN
Third District, Santa Monica

MIKE SCHAEFER, VICE CHAIR
Fourth District, San Diego

BETTY T. YEE
State Controller

BRENDA FLEMING
Executive Director

No. 2020/037

August 7, 2020

TO COUNTY ASSESSORS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES:

**Notice of Proposed Regulatory Action
by the
State Board of Equalization**

**Proposes to Adopt
Amendments to California Code of Regulations, Title 18,**

***Section 462.500, Change in Ownership of Real Property Acquired to Replace
Property Taken by Governmental Action or Eminent Domain Proceedings***

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN

The State Board of Equalization (Board), pursuant to the authority vested in it by Government Code section 15606, proposes to adopt amendments to California Code of Regulations, title 18, section (Rule or Property Tax Rule) 462.500, *Change in Ownership of Real Property Acquired to Replace Property Taken by Governmental Action or Eminent Domain Proceedings*. This rule implements, interprets, and makes specific the change in ownership provisions, under article XIII A of the California Constitution and Revenue and Taxation Code (RTC) section 68, applicable to changes in ownership of real property acquired to replace property taken by governmental action which has resulted in a judgment of inverse condemnation, acquisition by a public entity, or eminent domain proceedings. The proposed amendments to Property Tax Rule 462.500 would make the rule consistent with current law, which provides that if a taxpayer files a request for exclusion from reassessment after four years following the date the property was acquired by governmental action or eminent domain proceedings, the base year value transfer shall apply to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. Additionally, the assessor is to adjust the base year value of the replacement property for annual inflation and any new construction.

The proposed amendments also clarify in new examples that only the person whose property was taken may receive the exclusion under this rule up to 120 percent of his or her ownership interest in the replacement property, and that property tax relief is available when a taxpayer has a parcel taken, and subsequently two additional parcels taken, and then the taxpayer may purchase one

parcel to replace the three properties taken. The proposed amendments also clarify in existing examples that when property is replaced with two separate properties, pro-rata relief is applicable to both replacement properties. The proposed amendments clarify that floating homes are included in the definition of “real property” in subdivision (b)(5) of Rule 462.500, and that the terms and conditions for qualifying for property tax relief described in each subdivision of the rule are applicable to Rule 462.500 rather than any particular section, by replacing the word “section” with the word “rule.” The proposed amendments clarify that the reference to “Board” means the State Board of Equalization. The proposed amendments make formatting and grammatical changes for clarification.

PUBLIC HEARING

The Board will conduct a meeting on September 22-23, 2020 via teleconference, consistent with the Governor’s Executive Order N-29-20 (issued March 17, 2020). The Board will provide notice of the meeting to any person who requests that notice in writing and make the notice, including the specific agenda for the meeting, available on the Board’s website at www.boe.ca.gov at least 10 days in advance of the meeting.

A public hearing regarding the proposed regulatory action will be held at 10:00 a.m. or as soon thereafter as the matter may be heard on September 22 or 23, 2020. At the hearing, any interested person may present or submit oral or written statements, arguments, or contentions regarding the adoption of the Proposed Amendments to Property Tax Rule 462.500.

AUTHORITY

Government Code section 15606, subdivision (c)

REFERENCE

Article XIII A, section 2(d), California Constitution; and Revenue and Taxation Code section 68

INFORMATIVE DIGEST/POLICY STATEMENT OVERVIEW

Current Law

Proposition 13 was adopted by the voters at the June 1978 primary election and added article XIII A to the California Constitution. Article XIII A generally limits the amount of ad valorem tax to a maximum of 1 percent of the full cash value of real property. For purposes of this limitation, section 2 of article XIII A defines *full cash value* to mean a county assessor’s valuation of real property as shown on the 1975-76 tax bill, or thereafter, the appraised value of that real property when purchased, newly constructed, or a change in ownership has occurred. The California Legislature codified the definition of “change in ownership” in Revenue and Taxation Code (RTC) section 60 and codified other provisions regarding whether a transfer of property results in a change in ownership or is excluded from the definition of “change in ownership” in RTC sections 61 through 69.5.

Under Government Code section 15606, subdivision (c), the State Board of Equalization (Board) is authorized to prescribe rules and regulations to govern local boards of equalization and

assessment appeals boards when equalizing and county assessors when assessing. The Board adopted California Code of Regulations, title 18, section (Property Tax Rule) 462.500, *Change in Ownership of Real Property Acquired to Replace Property Taken by Governmental Action or Eminent Domain Proceedings*, pursuant to Government Code section 15606, to implement, interpret, and make specific the change in ownership provisions, under article XIII A of the California Constitution and the RTC, applicable to changes in ownership of real property acquired to replace property taken by governmental action which has resulted in a judgment of inverse condemnation, acquisition by a public entity, or eminent domain proceedings.

In particular, Property Tax Rule 462.500 implements, interprets, and makes specific RTC section 68, subdivisions (a) through (c), which provide that:

(a) For purposes of Section 2 of Article XIII A of the Constitution, the term “change in ownership” shall not include the acquisition of real property as a replacement for comparable property if the person acquiring the real property has been displaced from property in this state by eminent domain proceedings, by acquisition by a public entity, or by governmental action which has resulted in a judgment of inverse condemnation.

The adjusted base year value of the property acquired shall be the lower of the fair market value of the property acquired or the value which is the sum of the following:

(1) The adjusted base year value of the property from which the person was displaced.

(2) The amount, if any, by which the full cash value of the property acquired exceeds 120 percent of the amount received by the person for the property from which the person was displaced.

The provisions of this section shall apply to eminent domain proceedings, acquisitions, or judgments of inverse condemnation after March 1, 1975, and shall affect only those assessments of that property which occur after June 8, 1982.

(b) (1) A person acquiring replacement property shall request assessment under this section. A request made after four years following the date the property was acquired by eminent domain or purchase, or the date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final, shall be subject to subdivision (c).

(2) A change in the adjusted base year value of the replacement property acquired, resulting from the application of the provisions of this section, shall be deemed to be effective on the first day of the month following the month in which the property is acquired. The change in value shall be treated as a change in ownership for the purpose of placing supplemental assessments on the supplemental roll pursuant to Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 75). The assessor shall, however, appraise the replacement property acquired in accordance with the provisions of this section rather than the provisions of Section 75.10. The provisions of Chapter 3.5 shall be liberally construed in order to provide the

benefits of this section and Section 2 of Article XIII A of the California Constitution to affected property owners at the earliest possible date.

(c) A request for assessment under this section that is made after four years following the date the property was acquired by eminent domain or purchase, or the date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final, shall apply to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. Under an assessment granted pursuant to that request, the assessor shall adjust the base year value of the replacement property acquired in accordance with this section and make adjustments for both of the following:

(1) Inflation, as annually determined in accordance with paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 51.

(2) Any subsequent new construction occurring with respect to the subject real property.

Effect, Objective, and Benefits of the Proposed Amendments

Senate Bill 803 (Stats. 2015, ch. 454) amended Revenue and Taxation Code section 68 to specify that if a taxpayer files a request for exclusion from reassessment after four years following the date the property was acquired by eminent domain or purchase, or the date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final, then rather than becoming ineligible for exclusion, the base year value transfer will be applied to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. Additionally, the assessor is to adjust the base year value of the replacement property for annual inflation and any new construction.

As a result, Board staff reviewed the current provisions of Property Tax Rule 462.500, which implement, interpret, and make specific the provisions in RTC section 68, and staff determined that the requirement by Rule 462.500 to make a timely request for the exclusion to apply to replacement property within four years or otherwise forfeit the exclusion, was not consistent with the amendments of RTC section 68 required by Senate Bill 803. Board staff therefore developed a draft of proposed amendments to the rule to add a subdivision that reflects the newly added subdivision (c) of RTC section 68. The new subdivision of Rule 462.500, which is (g)(3), states that if a request is made after four years of the applicable date listed in subdivision (g)(2) of this rule, relief shall apply to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. As of the fourth lien date prior to the date of the request and any subsequent lien dates, the base year value of the replacement property shall be adjusted for both of the following: (A) Inflation, as annually determined in accordance with paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Revenue and Taxation Code section 51; (B) Any subsequent new construction occurring with respect to the subject real property.

Related to these changes, staff determined that the subheading of subdivision (g) of Rule 462.500, "Time Limits for Qualification," was no longer consistent with RTC section 68 as amended by Senate Bill 803. Staff determined that organizing the existing language, including the newly inserted subdivision regarding the administration of claims for relief filed after four years, into two separate subheadings according to their respective topics, would be easier to understand. Therefore, to better organize subdivision (g), staff's draft amendments retained

paragraphs (1) and (2) in subdivision (g), moving the last sentence of paragraph (1) to paragraph (2) so that paragraph (1) would address the fact that the provisions of Rule 462.500 apply to property acquired as a replacement property taken by eminent domain proceedings, public acquisitions, or judgments of inverse condemnation, provided that a request for such assessment is made with the assessor, and that the replacement property must be acquired before a request is made. Paragraph (2) states that reassessments and refunds shall be made retroactively to the date of acquisition of replacement property for property taken, provided a request is made within four years after one of the following dates, whichever is applicable:

(A) The date final order of condemnation is recorded or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property acquired by eminent domain;

(B) The date of conveyance or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property acquired by a public entity by purchase or exchange; or

(C) The date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property taken by inverse condemnation.

Finally, paragraph (3) of subdivision (g) of Rule 462.500 is the newly added paragraph that reflects the newly added subdivision (c) of RTC section 68, added by Senate Bill 803, as set forth above. Staff determined that the rule would be easier to understand if these three subdivisions were organized under the subheading, "Request for Assessment."

The remaining provisions of subdivision (g), which were formerly numbered subdivisions (g)(3) and (g)(4), state that:

(3) Replacement property shall be eligible for property tax relief under this section rule if it is acquired on or after the earliest of the following dates:

(A) The date the initial written offer is made for the property taken by the acquiring entity;

(B) The date the acquiring entity takes final action to approve a project which results in an offer for or the acquisition of the property taken;

(C) The date the "Notice of Determination," "Notice of Exemption," or similar notice, as required by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), is recorded by the public entity acquiring the taxpayer's property and the public project has been approved; or

(D) The date, as declared by the court, that the replaced property was taken.

(4) No property tax relief shall be granted to replacement property, however, prior to the date of displacement. The date of displacement shall be the earliest of the following dates:

- (A) The date the conveyance of the property taken to the acquiring entity or the final order of condemnation is recorded;
- (B) The date of actual possession by the acquiring entity of the property taken; or
- (C) The date upon or after which the acquiring entity may take possession of the property taken as authorized by an order for possession.

Since these subdivisions are with regard to limits based on acquisition and displacement dates, Board staff determined that the rule would be easier to understand if these two subdivisions were organized under the subheading, "Limits Based on Acquisition and Displacement Dates." Therefore, staff's draft amendments include this as the new subheading for subdivision (h), and renumbers the subsequent subdivision paragraphs.

While preparing the draft amendments and through the interested parties process, staff also determined that the following amendments were reasonably necessary for the specific purposes of:

- Clarifying in new Example 9 the property tax relief available when a taxpayer has a parcel taken, and subsequently two additional parcels taken, that the taxpayer may then purchase one parcel to replace the three properties taken.
- Clarifying that when property is replaced with two separate properties, pro-rata relief is applicable to both replacement properties in Example 4 and Example 6.
- Clarifying that floating homes are included in the definition of "real property" in subdivision (b)(5) of Rule 462.500.
- Clarifying that the terms and conditions for qualifying for property tax relief described in each subdivision of the rule are applicable to Rule 462.500 rather than any particular section, by replacing the word "section" with the word "rule".
- Clarifying that only the person whose property was taken may receive the exclusion under this rule up to 120 percent of his or her ownership interest in the replacement property, in new Example 14.
- Clarifying that the reference to "Board" means the State Board of Equalization.
- Making formatting and grammatical changes for clarification.

The above clarifications are reasonably necessary for the efficient and fair administration of the change in ownership provisions, under article XIII A of the California Constitution and the Revenue and Taxation Code (RTC), applicable to changes in ownership of real property acquired to replace property taken by governmental action which has resulted in a judgment of inverse condemnation, acquisition by a public entity, or eminent domain proceedings.

The Board anticipates that the Proposed Amendments will increase openness and transparency in government and benefit the public, local boards of equalization and assessment appeals boards, county assessors, and the owners of property potentially subject to assessment appeals hearings.

The Board has performed an evaluation of whether the Proposed Amendments are inconsistent or incompatible with existing state regulations. The Board has determined that the Proposed Amendments are not inconsistent or incompatible with existing state regulations because there are no other Property Tax Rules that prescribe the provisions that would be adopted by the Proposed Amendments. In addition, there are no comparable federal regulations or statutes to the Proposed Amendments.

NO MANDATE ON LOCAL AGENCIES AND SCHOOL DISTRICTS

The Board has determined that the adoption the Proposed Amendments will not impose a mandate on local agencies or school districts, including a mandate that requires state reimbursement under part 7 (commencing with section 17500) of division 4 of title 2 of the Government Code.

ONE-TIME COST TO THE BOARD, BUT NO OTHER COST OR SAVINGS TO ANY STATE AGENCY, LOCAL AGENCY, OR SCHOOL DISTRICT

The Board has determined that the adoption of the Proposed Amendments will result in an absorbable \$525 one-time cost for the Board to update its website after the amendments are completed. The Board has determined that the adoption of the Proposed Amendments will result in no other direct or indirect cost or savings to any state agency, no cost to any local agency or school district that is required to be reimbursed under part 7 (commencing with section 17500) of division 4 of title 2 of the Government Code, no other non-discretionary cost or savings imposed on local agencies, and no cost or savings in federal funding to the State of California.

NO SIGNIFICANT STATEWIDE ADVERSE ECONOMIC IMPACT DIRECTLY AFFECTING BUSINESS

The Board has made an initial determination that the adoption of the Proposed Amendments will not have a significant, statewide adverse economic impact directly affecting business, including the ability of California businesses to compete with businesses in other states.

The adoption of the Proposed Amendments may affect small business.

NO COST IMPACTS TO PRIVATE PERSONS OR BUSINESSES

The Board is not aware of any cost impacts that a representative private person or business would necessarily incur in reasonable compliance with the proposed action.

RESULTS OF THE ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 11346.3, SUBDIVISION (b)

The Board assessed the economic impact of the Proposed Amendments on California businesses and individuals and determined that the Proposed Amendments are not major regulations, as defined in Government Code section 11342.548 and California Code of Regulations, title 1, section 2000. Therefore, the Board has prepared the economic impact assessment (EIA) required by Government Code section 11346.3, subdivision (b)(1), for the Proposed Amendments and included it in the initial statement of reasons. In the EIA, the Board has determined that the

adoption of the Proposed Amendments will neither create nor eliminate jobs in the State of California nor create new businesses or eliminate existing businesses within the state nor expand businesses currently doing business in the State of California. Furthermore, as stated above under the INFORMATIVE DIGEST/POLICY STATEMENT OVERVIEW, Effect, Objective, and Benefits of the Proposed Amendments, the Board has determined that the adoption of the Proposed Amendments will benefit the health and welfare of California residents, worker safety, or the state's environment by safeguarding efficient and fair operation of local assessment appeals hearings.

NO SIGNIFICANT EFFECT ON HOUSING COSTS

Adoption of the Proposed Amendments will not have a significant effect on housing costs.

DETERMINATION REGARDING ALTERNATIVES

The Board must determine that no reasonable alternative considered by it or that has been otherwise identified and brought to its attention would be more effective in carrying out the purpose for which the action is proposed, would be as effective and less burdensome to affected private persons than the proposed action, or would be more cost effective to affected private persons and equally effective in implementing the statutory policy or other provision of law than the proposed action.

CONTACT PERSONS

Questions regarding the substance of the Proposed Amendments should be directed to Henry Nanjo, Chief Counsel, by telephone at (916) 323-1094, by e-mail at henry.nanjo@boe.ca.gov, or by mail at State Board of Equalization, Attn: Henry Nanjo, MIC:121, 450 N Street, P.O. Box 942879, Sacramento, CA 94279-0082.

Written comments for the Board's consideration, notice of intent to present testimony or witnesses at the public hearing, and inquiries concerning the proposed administrative action should be directed to Mr. Lawrence Lin, Regulations Coordinator, by telephone at (916) 323-1094, by fax at (916) 324-2586, by e-mail at lawrence.lin@boe.ca.gov, or by mail at State Board of Equalization, Attn: Lawrence Lin, MIC:80, 450 N Street, P.O. Box 942879, Sacramento, CA 94279-0080. Mr. Lin is the designated backup contact person to Mr. Nanjo.

WRITTEN COMMENT PERIOD

The written comment period ends at 10:00 a.m. on September 22, 2020, or as soon thereafter as the Board holds the public hearing regarding the Proposed Amendments during the September 22-23, 2020, Board meeting. Written comments received by Mr. Lawrence Lin at the postal address, email address, or fax number provided above, prior to the close of the written comment period, will be presented to the Board and the Board will consider the statements, arguments, and/or contentions contained in those written comments before the Board decides whether to adopt the Proposed Amendments. The Board will only consider written comments received by that time.

AVAILABILITY OF INITIAL STATEMENT OF REASONS AND TEXT OF PROPOSED REGULATION

The Board has prepared an underline and strikeout version of the Proposed Amendments illustrating the express terms of the Proposed Amendments and an initial statement of reasons for the adoption of the Proposed Amendments, which includes the economic impact assessment required by Government Code section 11346.3, subdivision (b)(1). These documents and all the information on which the Proposed Amendments are based are available to the public upon request. The rulemaking file is available for public inspection at 450 N Street, Sacramento, California. The express terms of the Proposed Amendments and the initial statement of reasons are also available on the Board's website at www.boe.ca.gov.

SUBSTANTIALLY RELATED CHANGES PURSUANT TO GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 11346.8

The Board may adopt the Proposed Amendments with changes that are nonsubstantial or solely grammatical in nature, or sufficiently related to the original proposed text that the public was adequately placed on notice that the changes could result from the originally proposed regulatory action. If a sufficiently related change is made, the Board will make the full text of the resulting regulation, with the change clearly indicated, available to the public for at least 15 days prior to adoption. The text of the resulting regulation will be mailed to those interested parties who commented on the original proposed regulation orally or in writing or who asked to be informed of such changes. The text of the resulting regulation will also be available to the public from Mr. Lin. The Board will consider written comments on the resulting regulation that are received prior to adoption.

AVAILABILITY OF FINAL STATEMENT OF REASONS

If the Board adopts the Proposed Amendments, the Board will prepare a final statement of reasons, which will be made available for inspection at 450 N Street, Sacramento, California, and available on the Board's website at www.boe.ca.gov.

Sincerely,

/s/ Henry D. Nanjo

Henry D. Nanjo
Chief Counsel /
Acting Chief, Board Proceedings

HDN:sy

**Initial Statement of Reasons for
Proposed Amendments to
California Code of Regulations, Title 18,
Section 462.500, *Change in Ownership of Real Property Acquired to
Replace Property Taken by Governmental Action or Eminent Domain
Proceedings***

**SPECIFIC PURPOSE, PROBLEM INTENDED TO BE ADDRESSED,
NECESSITY, AND ANTICIPATED BENEFITS**

Current Law

Proposition 13 was adopted by the voters at the June 1978 primary election and added article XIII A to the California Constitution. Article XIII A generally limits the amount of ad valorem tax to a maximum of 1 percent of the full cash value of real property. For purposes of this limitation, section 2 of article XIII A defines *full cash value* to mean a county assessor's valuation of real property as shown on the 1975-76 tax bill, or thereafter, the appraised value of that real property when purchased, newly constructed, or a change in ownership has occurred. The California Legislature codified the definition of "change in ownership" in Revenue and Taxation Code (RTC) section 60 and codified other provisions regarding whether a transfer of property results in a change in ownership or is excluded from the definition of "change in ownership" in RTC sections 61 through 69.5.

Under Government Code section 15606, subdivision (c), the State Board of Equalization (Board) is authorized to prescribe rules and regulations to govern local boards of equalization and assessment appeals boards when equalizing and county assessors when assessing. The Board adopted California Code of Regulations, title 18, section (Property Tax Rule) 462.500, *Change in Ownership of Real Property Acquired to Replace Property Taken by Governmental Action or Eminent Domain Proceedings*, pursuant to Government Code section 15606, to implement, interpret, and make specific the change in ownership provisions, under article XIII A of the California Constitution and the RTC, applicable to changes in ownership of real property acquired to replace property taken by governmental action which has resulted in a judgment of inverse condemnation, acquisition by a public entity, or eminent domain proceedings.

In particular, Property Tax Rule 462.500 implements, interprets, and makes specific RTC section 68, subdivisions (a) through (c), which provide that:

- (a) For purposes of Section 2 of Article XIII A of the Constitution, the term "change in ownership" shall not include the acquisition of real property as a replacement for comparable property if the person acquiring

the real property has been displaced from property in this state by eminent domain proceedings, by acquisition by a public entity, or by governmental action which has resulted in a judgment of inverse condemnation.

The adjusted base year value of the property acquired shall be the lower of the fair market value of the property acquired or the value which is the sum of the following:

(1) The adjusted base year value of the property from which the person was displaced.

(2) The amount, if any, by which the full cash value of the property acquired exceeds 120 percent of the amount received by the person for the property from which the person was displaced.

The provisions of this section shall apply to eminent domain proceedings, acquisitions, or judgments of inverse condemnation after March 1, 1975, and shall affect only those assessments of that property which occur after June 8, 1982.

(b) (1) A person acquiring replacement property shall request assessment under this section. A request made after four years following the date the property was acquired by eminent domain or purchase, or the date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final, shall be subject to subdivision (c).

(2) A change in the adjusted base year value of the replacement property acquired, resulting from the application of the provisions of this section, shall be deemed to be effective on the first day of the month following the month in which the property is acquired. The change in value shall be treated as a change in ownership for the purpose of placing supplemental assessments on the supplemental roll pursuant to Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 75). The assessor shall, however, appraise the replacement property acquired in accordance with the provisions of this section rather than the provisions of Section 75.10. The provisions of Chapter 3.5 shall be liberally construed in order to provide the benefits of this section and Section 2 of Article XIII A of the California Constitution to affected property owners at the earliest possible date.

(c) A request for assessment under this section that is made after four years following the date the property was acquired by eminent domain or purchase, or the date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final, shall apply to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. Under an assessment granted pursuant to that request, the assessor shall adjust the base year value of the replacement property acquired in accordance with this section and make adjustments for both of the following:

(1) Inflation, as annually determined in accordance with paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 51.

(2) Any subsequent new construction occurring with respect to the subject real property.

Senate Bill No. 803 (Stats. 2015, ch. 454), which was approved by the Governor and filed with the Secretary of State on October 2, 2015, explained that at the time, the California Constitution and existing property tax law excluded from a “change in ownership” the acquisition of real property as a replacement for property from which the person has been displaced by eminent domain proceedings, acquisition by a public entity, or judgment of inverse condemnation; existing property tax law required the person acquiring replacement property on and after January 1, 1983, to request assessment within 4 years of the date that the property was acquired by these means.

Accordingly, Property Tax Rule 462.500, which implements, interprets, and makes specific RTC section 68, subdivisions (a) through (c), currently specifies that property acquired as replacement property for property taken by eminent domain proceedings, public acquisitions, or judgments of inverse condemnation are eligible for the exclusion from change in ownership as stated in RTC section 68, provided that the person acquiring replacement property makes a timely request for such assessment with the assessor. For purposes of this rule, a request was deemed timely if made within four years after one of the following dates, whichever is applicable:

(A) The date final order of condemnation is recorded or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property acquired by eminent domain;

(B) The date of conveyance or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property acquired by a public entity by purchase or exchange; or

(C) The date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property taken by inverse condemnation.

(Property Tax Rule 462.500, subd. (g)(2).)

Rule 462.500 requires that a taxpayer make a timely request for the exclusion to apply to replacement property; otherwise, the taxpayer’s property would not be eligible for the exclusion. As such, Rule 462.500 currently has no provision for the event of a request being filed after the four-year time limit.

Proposed Amendments

Senate Bill 803 (Stats. 2015, ch. 454) amended Revenue and Taxation Code section 68 to specify that if a taxpayer files a request for exclusion from reassessment under this section, the base year value transfer will be deemed to be effective on the first day of the month following the month in which the property is acquired, and a request for assessment under this section that is made after four years following the date the property was acquired by eminent domain or purchase, or the date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final, shall apply to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. Additionally, the assessor is to adjust the base year value of the replacement property for annual inflation and any new construction.

As a result, Board staff reviewed the current provisions of Property Tax Rule 462.500, which implement, interpret, and make specific the provisions in RTC section 68, and staff determined that the requirement by Rule 462.500 to make a timely request for the exclusion to apply to replacement property within four years or otherwise forfeit the exclusion, was not consistent with the amendments of RTC section 68 required by Senate Bill 803. Board staff therefore developed a draft of proposed amendments to the rule to add a subdivision that reflects the newly added subdivision (c) of RTC section 68. The new subdivision of Rule 462.500, which is (g)(3), states that if a request is made after four years of the applicable date listed in subdivision (g)(2) of this rule, relief shall apply to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. As of the fourth lien date prior to the date of the request and any subsequent lien dates, the base year value of the replacement property shall be adjusted for both of the following: (A) Inflation, as annually determined in accordance with paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Revenue and Taxation Code section 51; (B) Any subsequent new construction occurring with respect to the subject real property.

Related to these changes, staff determined that the subheading of subdivision (g) of Rule 462.500, "Time Limits for Qualification," was no longer consistent with RTC section 68 as amended by Senate Bill 803. Staff determined that organizing the existing language, including the newly inserted subdivision regarding the administration of claims for relief filed after four years, into two separate subheadings according to their respective topics, would be easier to understand. Therefore, to better organize subdivision (g), staff's draft amendments retained paragraphs (1) and (2) in subdivision (g), moving the last sentence of paragraph (1) to paragraph (2) so that paragraph (1) would address the fact that the provisions of Rule 462.500 apply to property acquired as a replacement property taken by eminent domain proceedings, public acquisitions, or judgments of inverse condemnation, provided that a request for such assessment is made with the assessor, and that the replacement property must be acquired before a request is made. Paragraph (2) states that reassessments and refunds shall be made retroactively to the date of acquisition of replacement property for property taken, provided a request is made within four years after one of the following dates, whichever is applicable:

(A) The date final order of condemnation is recorded or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property acquired by eminent domain;

(B) The date of conveyance or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property acquired by a public entity by purchase or exchange; or

(C) The date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property taken by inverse condemnation.

Finally, paragraph (3) of subdivision (g) of Rule 462.500 is the newly added paragraph that reflects the newly added subdivision (c) of RTC section 68, added by Senate Bill 803, as set forth above. Staff determined that the rule would be easier to understand if these three subdivisions were organized under the subheading, "Request for Assessment."

The remaining provisions of subdivision (g), which were formerly numbered subdivisions (g)(3) and (g)(4), state that:

(3) Replacement property shall be eligible for property tax relief under this section rule if it is acquired on or after the earliest of the following dates:

(A) The date the initial written offer is made for the property taken by the acquiring entity;

(B) The date the acquiring entity takes final action to approve a project which results in an offer for or the acquisition of the property taken;

(C) The date the "Notice of Determination," "Notice of Exemption," or similar notice, as required by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), is recorded by the public entity acquiring the taxpayer's property and the public project has been approved; or

(D) The date, as declared by the court, that the replaced property was taken.

(4) No property tax relief shall be granted to replacement property, however, prior to the date of displacement. The date of displacement shall be the earliest of the following dates:

(A) The date the conveyance of the property taken to the acquiring entity or the final order of condemnation is recorded;

(B) The date of actual possession by the acquiring entity of the property taken; or

(C) The date upon or after which the acquiring entity may take possession of the property taken as authorized by an order for possession.

Since these subdivisions are with regard to limits based on acquisition and displacement dates, Board staff determined that the rule would be easier to understand if these two subdivisions were organized under the subheading, “Limits Based on Acquisition and Displacement Dates.” Therefore, staff’s draft amendments include this as the new subheading for subdivision (h), and renumbers the subsequent subdivision paragraphs.

While preparing the draft amendments, staff determined that although Rule 462.500 contains examples of taxpayers whose property or properties were taken by governmental entities at one time and replaced with corresponding replacement properties, the rule did not contain an example of a taxpayer having several properties taken at different times, but replaced with only one property. Therefore, staff’s draft amendments include a new Example 9 which clarifies that if a taxpayer had a parcel taken to accommodate the widening of a freeway, for example, and two years later, the taxpayer had two additional parcels taken, then the taxpayer may purchase one parcel to replace the three properties taken. The example further states that if “the replacement property meets the comparability test for all three properties taken, then the combined base year values of the three properties taken may be transferred to the replacement property or portion thereof.” Staff’s draft amendments also renumber the subsequent examples in the rule.

Additionally, Example 4 and Example 6 contain examples of property being replaced with two separate properties, and the examples state that “relief is applicable to both [replacement] properties.” However, staff desired to clarify the language of the rule by stating that pro-rata relief is applicable to both replacement properties. Therefore, the word “relief” was replaced with “pro-rata relief” in both Example 4 and Example 6.

While preparing the draft amendments, staff also determined that since RTC section 229, subdivision (a) states that “[a] floating home shall be assessed in the same manner as real property,” floating homes should be added to the definition of “real property” in Rule 462.500, subdivision (b)(5), to ensure that floating homes may also obtain relief from change in ownership reassessment if they are acquired to replace property taken by governmental action or eminent domain proceedings. Therefore, “floating homes” was added to the definition of property that is included in the definition of “real property” in subdivision (b)(5) of Rule 462.500.

Additionally, there are numerous instances in the Rule where the language states that property tax relief is or is not available “under this section.” However, since the word “section” can be ambiguous as to which section the phrase is referring to, staff determined that more accurate and unambiguous language would be to state that property tax relief is or is not available “under this rule.” This would clarify that the terms and conditions for qualifying for property tax relief described in each subdivision of the rule are applicable to Rule 462.500. Therefore, the word “section” was replaced with “rule” in

subdivision (b), subdivision (b)(5), subdivision (e), and the following subdivisions as renumbered: Example 12, Example 13, subdivision (g)(1), (g)(2), (h)(1), and (i)(1).

Staff also determined that various formatting changes were necessary to conform to the California Style Manual, and that various grammatical or punctuation changes were necessary for further clarification, and therefore made those changes throughout the rule. Board staff subsequently provided its draft of the proposed amendments to the county assessors and other interested parties for comment via Letter To Assessors (LTA) 2019/016, dated June 13, 2019, which requested that written comments be submitted by July 26, 2019. The interested parties recommended and Board staff agreed that another example was needed to clarify how to apply the change in ownership exclusion to a situation where one taxpayer's property was taken through eminent domain proceedings, but that taxpayer purchased a replacement property along with a co-owner of that property. Therefore, staff developed a second draft of the proposed amendments to the rule and distributed it to interested parties for comment via LTA 2019/031, dated September 13, 2019, which included a new Example 14. That example clarifies that if a taxpayer is the sole owner of a primary residence that is taken through eminent domain proceedings by a school district, and the taxpayer purchases a replacement property with another unrelated taxpayer as joint tenants, then the first taxpayer, whose property was taken, may receive the exclusion under this rule up to 120 percent of his or her ownership interest in the replacement property, but the other taxpayer's interest in the property is reassessed at current fair market value. Staff's draft amendments also renumbered the subsequent examples in the rule. LTA 2019/031 requested that written comments be submitted by October 23, 2019.

The interested parties recommended and Board staff agreed that a grammatical change was necessary in the second sentence of newly numbered Example 11, changing the word "which" to "that." The interested parties also recommended and Board staff agreed that a clarification was necessary in newly numbered subdivision (i)(2), to state that the reference to "Board" means the State Board of Equalization. These changes were accepted and incorporated into the proposed amendments to the rule. Therefore, staff did not hold an additional interested parties meeting.

Staff subsequently prepared a revised draft of the proposed amendments to Property Tax Rule 462.500, which incorporated the changes as discussed above. Staff also prepared a Chief Counsel memo dated June 12, 2020, and submitted it to the Board with the revised draft of the proposed amendments for consideration during its June 23, 2020 Board meeting. In the Chief Counsel memo, Board staff recommended that the Board authorize commencement of the official rulemaking process by authorizing the publication of a notice of proposed regulatory action regarding amendments to Rule 462.500 in the California Notice Register, because all of the proposed changes to Rule 462.500 conform to existing law, have undergone the Interested Parties process and there are no outstanding issues. The recommendations in the Chief Counsel memo were the result of a consensus between staff and the interested parties who participated in the interested parties meetings.

At the conclusion of the June 23, 2020 Board meeting, the Board agreed with staff's recommendations and unanimously voted to propose the adoption of staff's recommended amendments to Property Tax Rule 462.500. The Board determined that the amendments were reasonably necessary for the specific purpose of implementing, interpreting, and making specific the amendments to RTC section 68 as amended by Senate Bill 803 (Stats. 2015, ch. 454) to specify that if a taxpayer files a request for exclusion from reassessment under this section, the base year value transfer will be deemed to be effective on the first day of the month following the month in which the property is acquired, and a request for assessment under this section that is made after four years following the date the property was acquired by eminent domain or purchase, or the date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final, shall apply to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. Additionally, the assessor is to adjust the base year value of the replacement property for annual inflation and any new construction. The Board also determined that the amendments were reasonably necessary for the specific purposes of:

- Clarifying in new Example 9 of the property tax relief available when a taxpayer has a parcel taken, and subsequently two additional parcels taken, and then the taxpayer may purchase one parcel to replace the three properties taken.
- Clarifying that when property is replaced with two separate properties, pro-rata relief is applicable to both replacement properties in Example 4 and Example 6.
- Clarifying that floating homes are included in the definition of "real property" in subdivision (b)(5) of Rule 462.500.
- Clarifying that the terms and conditions for qualifying for property tax relief described in each subdivision of the rule are applicable to Rule 462.500 rather than any particular section, by replacing the word "section" with the word "rule".
- Clarifying that only the person whose property was taken may receive the exclusion under this rule up to 120 percent of his or her ownership interest in the replacement property, in new Example 14.
- Clarifying that the reference to "Board" means the State Board of Equalization.
- Make formatting and grammatical changes for clarification.

The Board anticipates that the proposed amendments will promote fairness throughout California's 58 counties and benefit the public, local boards of equalization and assessment appeals boards, and county assessors by providing additional notice regarding the provisions of RTC section 68, as amended by Senate Bill 803 (Stats. 2015, ch. 454) to specify that if a taxpayer files a request for exclusion from reassessment under this section, the base year value transfer will be deemed to be effective on the first day of the month following the month in which the property is acquired, and a request for assessment under this section that is made after four years following the date the property was acquired by eminent domain or purchase, or the date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final, shall apply to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. Additionally, the assessor is to adjust the base year value of the replacement property for annual inflation and any new construction.

The Board has performed an evaluation of whether the Proposed Amendments are inconsistent or incompatible with existing state regulations. The Board has determined that the Proposed Amendments are not inconsistent or incompatible with existing state regulations because there are no other Property Tax Rules that prescribe the provisions that would be adopted by the Proposed Amendments. In addition, there are no comparable federal regulations or statutes to the Proposed Amendments.

The adoption of the Proposed Amendments is not mandated by federal law or regulations. There is no previously adopted or amended federal regulation that is identical to the Proposed Amendments.

DOCUMENTS RELIED UPON

The Board relied upon the June 12, 2020 Chief Counsel Memorandum, the attachments to the Chief Counsel Memorandum, correspondence submitted for and comments made during the Board's discussion of the issues at its June 23, 2020 meeting in deciding to propose the amendments described above.

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED

The Board considered whether to begin the formal rulemaking process to adopt the Proposed Amendments, to issue some form of informal guidance or, alternatively, whether to take no action at this time. The Board decided to begin the formal rulemaking process to adopt the Proposed Amendments at this time because the Board determined that the Proposed Amendments are reasonably necessary for the reasons set forth above.

The Board did not reject any reasonable alternative to the Proposed Amendments that would lessen any adverse impact the proposed action may have on small business or that would be less burdensome and equally effective in achieving the purpose of the proposed action. No reasonable alternative has been identified and brought to the Board's attention that would lessen any adverse impact the proposed action may have on small business, be more effective in carrying out the purpose for which the action is proposed, would be as effective and less burdensome to affected private persons than the proposed action, or would be more cost effective to affected private persons and equally effective in implementing the statutory policy or other provision of law than the proposed action.

INFORMATION REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 11346.2, SUBDIVISION (b)(5), ECONOMIC IMPACT ASSESSMENT REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 11346.3, SUBDIVISION (b), AND DETERMINATIONS AND ESTIMATE REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 11346.5, SUBDIVISION (a)(5), (6), AND (8)

As explained in more detail above, the Proposed Amendments implement, interpret, and makes specific RTC section 68 by specifying that if a taxpayer files a request for exclusion from reassessment under this section, the base year value transfer will be deemed to be effective on the first day of the month following the month in which the property is acquired, and a request for assessment under this section that is made after

four years following the date the property was acquired by eminent domain or purchase, or the date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final, shall apply to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. Additionally, the assessor is to adjust the base year value of the replacement property for annual inflation and any new construction. The proposed amendments also reorganize and renumber subdivisions (g), (h), and (i) to clarify the above amendments, provide more descriptive subheadings, and provide additional clarifying examples and terms.

The Proposed Amendments will not mandate that individuals or businesses or state or local government do anything that is not already required, and there is nothing in the Proposed Amendments that would significantly change how individuals and businesses would generally behave in the absence of the proposed regulatory action, or that would have a significant effect on the state's economy or that would impact the state's revenue. Therefore, Board staff determined that the Proposed Amendments will not impact property tax revenue. The Proposed Amendments will not impose new compliance costs on businesses and individuals and will not provide a monetary benefit to businesses and individuals. And, Board staff estimated that the Proposed Amendments will result in an absorbable \$525 one-time cost for the Board to update its website after the amendments are completed assuming that average hourly compensation costs are \$52.45 per hour¹ and that it will take approximately ten hours ($\$52.45 \times 10 = \524.50 , rounded to \$525), but will not have any other fiscal impact on local or state government.

Therefore, the Board has determined that the adoption of the Proposed Amendments will not impose a mandate on local agencies or school districts, including a mandate that requires state reimbursement under part 7 (commencing with section 17500) of division 4 of title 2 of the Government Code, and the Board estimates that the adoption of the Proposed Amendments will result in an absorbable \$525 one-time cost to the Board, but no other direct or indirect cost or savings to any state agency, no cost to any local agency or school district that is required to be reimbursed under part 7 (commencing with section 17500) of division 4 of title 2 of the Government Code, no other non-discretionary cost or savings imposed on local agencies, and no cost or savings in federal funding to the State of California.

In addition, the Board has made an initial determination that the Proposed Amendments will not have a significant, statewide adverse economic impact directly affecting business, including the ability of California businesses to compete with businesses in other states, and the Board has determined that the Proposed Amendments are not a major regulation, as defined in Government Code section 11342.548 and California Code of Regulations, title 1, section 2000, because the Board has estimated that the Proposed Amendments will not have an economic impact on California business enterprises and

¹ Source: Hourly compensation costs are from the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Hourly compensation costs are for State and Local Workers, *Employer Costs for Employee Compensation – March 2020*, <http://www.bls.gov/>

individuals in an amount exceeding fifty million dollars (\$50,000,000) during any 12-month period.

Further, based upon these facts and all of the information in the rulemaking file, the Board also determined that the adoption of the Proposed Amendments will neither create nor eliminate jobs in the State of California nor create new businesses or eliminate existing businesses within the state nor expand businesses currently doing business within the State of California.

Furthermore, the Proposed Amendments do not regulate the health and welfare of California residents, worker safety, or the state's environment. Therefore, the Board has also determined that the adoption of the Proposed Amendments will not affect the benefits of the rules before amendment to the health and welfare of California residents, worker safety, or the state's environment.

The forgoing information also provides the factual basis for the Board's initial determination that the adoption of the Proposed Amendments will not have a significant adverse economic impact on business.

The Proposed Amendments may affect small business within the meaning of California Code of Regulations, title 1, section 4 because a small business may own property that is subject to governmental action or eminent domain proceedings.

RULE 462.500. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP OF REAL PROPERTY ACQUIRED TO REPLACE PROPERTY TAKEN BY GOVERNMENTAL ACTION OR EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEEDINGS.

Authority: Section 15606, Government Code.

References: Article XIII A, Section 2(d), California Constitution; and Section 68, Revenue and Taxation Code.

(a) GENERAL. The term "change in ownership" shall not include the acquisition of comparable real property as replacement for property taken if the person acquiring the replacement real property has been displaced from property in this state by:

- (1) Eminent domain proceedings instituted by any entity authorized by statute to exercise the power of eminent domain, or
- (2) Acquisition by a public entity, or
- (3) Governmental action which has resulted in a judgment of inverse condemnation.

(b) DEFINITIONS. The following definitions govern the construction of the words or phrases used in this ~~section~~rule.

- (1) "Property taken" means real property taken or property acquired as provided in subdivision (a) of this rule.
- (2) "Replacement property" means real property acquired to replace property taken.
- (3) "Award or purchase price" means the amount paid for "property taken" but shall not include amounts paid for relocation assistance or ~~any thing~~anything other than the replaced real property. The award or purchase price may not reflect full cash value.
- (4) "Displaced" means a property owner is removed, expelled, or forced from property as a result of eminent domain proceedings, acquisition by a public entity in lieu of instituting eminent domain proceedings, or governmental action resulting in a judgment of inverse condemnation.
- (5) "Real property" includes land, land improvements, living improvements, manufactured homes, floating homes, and fixed machinery and equipment. Personal property is not entitled to relief under this ~~section~~rule.
- (6) "Adjusted base year value" means the base year value, as determined in accordance with Revenue and Taxation Code ~~Section~~section 110.1, with the adjustments permitted by subdivision (b) of ~~Section~~section 2 of ~~Article~~article XIII A of the California Constitution and subdivision (f) of Revenue and Taxation Code ~~Section~~section 110.1.

(c) COMPARABILITY. Replacement property, acquired by a person displaced under circumstances enumerated in subdivision (a) of this rule, shall be deemed comparable to the property taken if it is similar in size, utility, and function.

(1) The size of property is associated with value, not physical characteristics. Property is similar in size if its full cash value does not exceed 120 percent of the award or purchase price paid for the property taken.

A replacement property, or portion thereof, that has a full cash value which exceeds 120 percent of the award or purchase price shall be considered, to the extent of the excess, not similar in size.

(2) Property is similar in function and utility if the replacement property is or is intended to be used in the same manner as the property taken. Property is similar in function and utility if the property taken and the replacement property both fall into the same category:

Category A: Single family residence or duplex. Small miscellaneous buildings may be included when used with a residence.

Category B: Commercial, investment, income, or vacant property. Single family residences and duplexes that are used as investment property may be considered income property if sufficient proof is provided to the assessor. Proof may include, but is not limited to, rental or lease agreements, cancelled checks, income tax returns, or other investment records.

If property does not fall within Category A or Category C, it falls within Category B.

Category C: Agricultural property. "Agriculture" includes farming in all its branches, and, among other things, includes the cultivation and tillage of the soil, dairying, the production, cultivation, growing, and harvesting of any agricultural or horticultural commodities, the raising of livestock, bees, furbearing animals, or poultry, and any practices (including any forestry or lumbering operations) performed incidental to or in conjunction with such farming operations, including preparation for market and delivery to storage or to market or to carriers for transportation to market.

Agricultural property that is in transition may be considered similar to property described in Category B if property in its vicinity has been changing from historically agricultural use to another use. Factors that may be considered to determine whether agricultural property is in transition include, but are not limited to:

- Restrictions that would prohibit the property taken from converting to property described in Category B such as the general plan, community plan, or special plan. Current zoning restrictions are not such a restriction if the general plan, community plan, or special plan contemplate a zoning change.
- The highest and best use of the property ~~taken~~; taken.
- The type of comparable property that was used by the acquiring government body to value the property taken.

(3) To the extent that replacement property, or any portion thereof, is not similar in function, size and utility, the property, or portion thereof, shall be considered to have undergone a change in ownership.

EXAMPLE 1: An owner-occupied single family residence is replaced by a combination dwelling and commercial property. Relief is applicable to only the dwelling portion of the replacement property; the commercial portion shall be considered as having changed ownership.

EXAMPLE 2: A combination dwelling and commercial property is replaced with an owner-occupied single family residence. Only the dwelling portion of the property taken shall be considered in determining the comparability and the amount of relief. The right to relief on the commercial portion of the property taken is waived unless replacement Category B property is acquired after the date of displacement and a ~~timely~~-request is made for assessment relief.

EXAMPLE 3: A combination dwelling and commercial property is replaced with a Category A single family residence, and later the displaced person also acquires a separate replacement Category B property. Pro-rata relief shall be granted on both the replacement Category A single family residence and Category B property.

EXAMPLE 4: An owner-occupied single family residence is replaced with an owner-occupied single family residence and a vacation home. ~~Relief~~Pro-rata relief is applicable to both properties.

EXAMPLE 5: An owner-occupied single family residence that has a homeowners' exemption is replaced with a single family residence that is to be used as a rental property. The replacement property qualifies for relief because a Category A property is replaced by another Category A property.

EXAMPLE 6: A duplex in which the property owner lived in one unit and rented the other unit is replaced with two single family residences, one of which will be owner occupied. ~~Relief~~Pro-rata relief is applicable to both properties.

EXAMPLE 7: Three single family residences that were owned by a taxpayer and used as rental properties were replaced by a small apartment complex. Relief is available under Category B if the taxpayer provides proof to the assessor that the single family residences were held as income property.

EXAMPLE 8: A taxpayer owns a 40-acre vineyard which includes an owner-occupied single family residence. The owner-occupied single family residence is taken along with 5 acres of grapevines. To qualify for relief, the owner-occupied single family residence must be replaced with Category A property; the vineyard must be replaced with other Category C property or, if the property is in transition to another use, it may be replaced with a Category B property.

EXAMPLE 9: A taxpayer had a parcel taken to accommodate the widening of a freeway. Two years later, the taxpayer had two additional parcels taken. The taxpayer may purchase one parcel to replace the three properties taken. If the replacement property meets the comparability test for all three properties taken, then the combined base year values of the three properties taken may be transferred to the replacement property or portion thereof.

(d) BASE YEAR VALUE OF REPLACEMENT PROPERTY. The following procedure shall be used by the assessor in determining the appropriate adjusted base year value of comparable replacement property:

- (1) Compare the award or purchase price paid by the acquiring entity for the property taken or acquired with the full cash value of the comparable replacement property.
- (2) If the full cash value of the comparable replacement property does not exceed 120 percent of the award or purchase price of the property taken, then the adjusted base year value of the property taken shall become the replacement property's base year value, regardless of the allocation between land and improvements.
- (3) If the full cash value of the replacement property exceeds 120 percent of the award or purchase price of the property taken, then the amount of the full cash value over 120 percent of the award or purchase price paid shall be added to the adjusted base year value of the property taken. The sum of these amounts shall become the replacement property's base year value.

(4) If the full cash value of the comparable replacement property is less than the adjusted base year value of the property taken, then that lower value shall become the replacement property's base year value.

(5) If there is no award or purchase price paid by the acquiring entity (i.e., an exchange) for the property taken, then the full cash value of the acquired property and the full cash value of the replacement property shall be determined by the assessor of the county in which each property is located for the purpose of applying the other provisions of this subdivision. The procedure set forth in subdivision (d)(1) through (d)(4) shall then be applied to determine the replacement property's base year value.

(6) A base year value may be reallocated upon the transfer of the replacement property. The appraisal unit that is normally bought and sold in the market place may be used to determine the amount of base year value that is allocated to the property taken.

EXAMPLE 9-10: A commercial property, consisting of land and improvements, is taken and replaced with a Category B structure that was built on land that the taxpayer already owned. The land is ineligible for relief because it was previously owned. Despite the ineligibility of the land, the base year value of the property taken (land and improvements) may be transferred to the newly constructed improvements to the extent it meets the value and timing requirements.

(e) OWNERSHIP REQUIREMENTS. Only the owner or owners of the property taken, whether one or more individuals, partnerships, corporations, other legal entities, or a combination thereof, shall receive property tax relief under this ~~section-rule~~. Relief under this ~~section-rule~~ shall be granted to an owner(s) of property taken who obtains title to replacement property. The acquisition of an ownership interest in a legal entity which, directly or indirectly, owns real property is not an acquisition of comparable property.

EXAMPLE 10-11: A and B each own an undivided 50 percent interest as joint tenants in a home ~~which-that~~ is taken through eminent domain proceedings by the state. A purchases a replacement property which is comparable to the property taken. B contributes his share of the award or purchase price to a limited partnership ~~which-that~~ owns a home which is comparable replacement property. A's relief ~~under this section~~ is limited to 120 percent of one-half of the award or purchase price of the property taken. B is entitled to no relief.

EXAMPLE 11-12: A partnership composed of two corporations owns commercial property ~~which-that~~ is taken through eminent domain proceedings. The partnership uses the award or purchase price to acquire Category B property. The partnership is entitled to relief under this ~~section-rule~~.

EXAMPLE 12-13: A partnership composed of two corporations owns commercial property ~~which-that~~ is taken through eminent domain proceedings. The partnership distributes the award or purchase price to the partner corporations in the same percentage as their ownership interests and the corporations separately or jointly acquire comparable replacement property retaining the same percentage of ownership interest in the partnership. No tax relief may be granted under this ~~section-rule~~.

EXAMPLE 14: A is the sole owner of a primary residence that is taken through eminent domain proceedings by a school district. A and B (not the spouse of A) purchase a replacement property as joint tenants. A's relief is limited to 120 percent of A's ownership interest in the replacement property. B's interest in the property is reassessed at current fair market value.

For purposes of this section, owner means the fee owner or life estate owner of the real property taken and excludes the lessee thereof unless the lessee owns improvements located on land owned by another, in which case, the lessee shall be entitled to property tax relief for comparable replacement improvements.

(f) NEW CONSTRUCTION. Any new construction required to make replacement property comparable to the property taken shall, to that extent, be eligible for property tax relief, if such new construction is completed on or after the earliest of the dates listed in subdivision (g)(3), and if a ~~timely~~ request is made for assessment relief.

(g) REQUEST FOR ASSESSMENT TIME LIMITS FOR QUALIFICATION.

(1) The provisions of this ~~section-rule~~ shall apply to property acquired as replacement property for property taken by eminent domain proceedings, public acquisitions, or judgments of inverse condemnation, provided the person acquiring replacement property makes a ~~timely~~ request for such assessment with the assessor. The replacement property must be acquired before a request is made. ~~Reassessments and refunds shall be made retroactively to the date of acquisition of replacement property for property taken, provided a timely request is made therefor.~~

(2) Reassessments and refunds shall be made retroactively to the date of acquisition of replacement property for property taken, provided a timely request is made. For purposes of this ~~section-rule~~, a request shall be deemed timely if made within four years after one of the following dates, whichever is applicable:

- (A) The date final order of condemnation is recorded or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property acquired by eminent domain;
- (B) The date of conveyance or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property acquired by a public entity by purchase or exchange; or
- (C) The date the judgment of inverse condemnation becomes final or the date the taxpayer vacates the property taken, whichever is later, for property taken by inverse condemnation.

(3) If a request is made after four years of the applicable date listed in subdivision (g)(2) of this rule, relief shall apply to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. As of the fourth lien date prior to the date of the request and any subsequent lien dates, the base year value of the replacement property shall be adjusted for both of the following:

- (A) Inflation, as annually determined in accordance with paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Revenue and Taxation Code section 51.
- (B) Any subsequent new construction occurring with respect to the subject real property.

(h) LIMITS BASED ON ACQUISITION AND DISPLACEMENT DATES.

(31) Replacement property shall be eligible for property tax relief under this ~~section-rule~~ if it is acquired on or after the earliest of the following dates:

- (A) The date the initial written offer is made for the property taken by the acquiring entity;

(B) The date the acquiring entity takes final action to approve a project which results in an offer for or the acquisition of the property taken;

(C) The date the "Notice of Determination," "Notice of Exemption," or similar notice, as required by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), is recorded by the public entity acquiring the taxpayer's property and the public project has been approved; or

(D) The date, as declared by the court, that the replaced property was taken.

(42) No property tax relief shall be granted to replacement property, however, prior to the date of displacement. The date of displacement shall be the earliest of the following dates:

(A) The date the conveyance of the property taken to the acquiring entity or the final order of condemnation is recorded;

(B) The date of actual possession by the acquiring entity of the property taken; or

(C) The date upon or after which the acquiring entity may take possession of the property taken as authorized by an order for possession.

(hi) ADMINISTRATION.

(1) The assessor shall consider any of the following documents as proof of actual displacement of a taxpayer when a request has been made for the assessment relief provisions under this ~~section~~ rule:

(A) A certified recorded copy of the final order of condemnation, or, if the final order has not been issued, a certified recorded copy of the order for possession showing the effective date upon or after which the acquiring entity is authorized to take possession of the property taken;

(B) A copy of a recorded deed showing acquisition by a public entity; or

(C) A certified copy of a final judgment of inverse condemnation.

(2) Upon receipt of a taxpayer request and proof of actual displacement, the assessor shall forward to the ~~Board~~ State Board of Equalization such information regarding the identification of a displaced property as the ~~Board~~ State Board of Equalization may require. The ~~Board~~ State Board of Equalization shall review such information to determine whether more than one request for assessment relief has been made as a result of a single taking or governmental acquisition and if so shall advise the appropriate assessor(s).

Regulation History

Type of Regulation: Property Tax

Rule: 462.500

Title: Change in Ownership of Real Property Acquired to Replace Property Taken by Governmental Action or Eminent Domain Proceedings

Preparation: Henry Nanjo

Legal Contact: Henry Nanjo

Summary: The State Board of Equalization proposes to adopt amendments to Property Tax Rule 462.500 to make the rule consistent with current law under Revenue and Taxation Code section 68 which provides that if a taxpayer files a request for exclusion from reassessment after four years following the date the property was acquired by governmental action or eminent domain proceedings, the base year value transfer shall apply to the lien dates for the last four fiscal years with appropriate roll corrections, refunds, or cancellations. Additionally, the assessor is to adjust the base year value of the replacement property for annual inflation and any new construction.

History of Proposed Regulation:

September 22, 2020	Public hearing
July 24, 2020	OAL publication date; 45-day public comment period begins; IP mailing
July 10, 2020	Notice to OAL
June 23, 2020	Chief Counsel Matters, Board Authorized Publication (Vote 5-0)

Petitioner: NA
Support: NA
Oppose: NA